AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND ENGINEER FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	J.	Page
Article 1-	– Services Of Engineer	1
1.01	Scope	1
Article 2-	– Owner's Responsibilities	1
2.01	Project Information	1
2.02	Owner's Instructions Regarding Bidding/Proposal and Front-End Construction Contract	
Docum	ents	1
2.03	Owner-Furnished Services	2
2.04	Owner's General Responsibilities	2
2.05	Payment	3
Article 3-	– Schedule For Rendering Services	4
3.01	Commencement	4
3.02	Time for Completion	4
Article 4-	- Invoices And Payments for services	4
4.01	Invoices	4
4.02	Payments	4
Article 5-	– Opinions Of Cost	5
5.01	Opinions of Probable Construction Cost	5
Article 6-	– General Considerations	5
6.01	Standards of Performance	5
6.02	Ownership and Use of Documents	6
6.03	Electronic Transmittals	8
6.04	Insurance	8
6.05	Termination for Cause	
6.06	Successors, Assigns, and Beneficiaries	8
6.07	Dispute Resolution	9
6.08	Controlling Law	
6.09	Environmental Condition of Site	9
6.10	Indemnification and Mutual Waiver	9
6.11	Records Retention	9
6.12	Miscellaneous Provisions	10
Article 7-	– Definitions	10
7.01	Defined Terms	
Article 8-	– Exhibits And Special Provisions	
8.01	Exhibits to Agreement	
8 03	Total Agreement	15

AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND ENGINEER FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

This is an Agreement between City of Ozark, Alabama (Owner) and Poly, Inc. (Engineer). Owner's Project, of which Engineer's services under this Agreement are a part, is generally identified as Sports Complex – Phase 1 Schematic Design (Project). Other terms used in this Agreement are defined in Article 7. Engineer's services under this Agreement are generally identified as professional engineering services associated with the design of the Project.

Owner and Engineer further agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1—SERVICES OF ENGINEER

1.01 Scope

- A. Engineer shall provide, or cause to be provided, the services set forth herein and in Exhibits.
- B. Engineer represents that it has sufficient qualified personnel and equipment and is capable of performing the professional engineering services described herein; a corporation qualified to do business in the State of Alabama; and the services described herein will be performed under the supervision of an engineer licensed in the State of Alabama.

ARTICLE 2—OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

2.01 Project Information

- A. To the extent Owner has not already provided the following, or has new, additional, or revised information from that previously provided, Owner shall provide Engineer with readily available information and data needed by Engineer in the performance of Basic and Additional Services.
- B. Following Engineer's assessment of initially-available Project information and data and upon Engineer's request, Owner shall obtain, furnish, or otherwise make available (if necessary through retention of specialists or consultants) such additional Project-related information and data, not included in the Engineer's services, as is reasonably required to enable Engineer to complete its Basic and Additional Services; or, with consent of Engineer, Owner may authorize the Engineer to obtain or provide all or part of such additional information as Additional Services.
- 2.02 Owner's Instructions Regarding Bidding/Proposal and Front-End Construction Contract Documents
 - A. Owner shall give instructions to Engineer regarding Owner's procurement of construction services (including instructions regarding advertisements for bids, instructions to bidders, and requests for proposals, as applicable) and Owner's construction contract practices and requirements, and furnish to Engineer (or give specific directions requesting Engineer to use copies already in Engineer's possession) the following:
 - Owner's standard contract forms, general conditions (if other than the current edition
 of EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract),
 supplementary conditions, text, and related documents and content for Engineer to
 include in the draft Bidding/Proposal Documents, and in draft Front-End Construction
 Contract Documents;

- 2. insurance and bonding requirements;
- 3. diversity and other social responsibility requirements;
- 4. bidding and contract requirements of funding, financing, or regulatory entities;
- 5. other specific conditions applicable to the procurement of construction or contract documents;
- 6. Owner's purchasing policies and sales tax exemption procedures; and
- 7. any other information necessary for Engineer to assist Owner in preparing its Bidding/Proposal Documents and Front-End Construction Contract Documents.
- B. Owner shall have responsibility for the review of final content of (1) such Bidding/Proposal Documents, and (2) such Front-End Construction Contract Documents, other than content furnished by Engineer concerning the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise) or other engineering or technical matters.
 - 1. Owner shall seek the advice of Owner's legal counsel, risk managers, and insurance advisors with respect to the drafting and content of such documents.
- C. If there will be an advertisement soliciting bids for construction, Owner shall place and pay for such advertisement.

2.03 Owner-Furnished Services

- A. Owner shall acquire or arrange for acquisition of the Site(s) and any temporary or permanent rights of access, easements, or property rights needed for the Project, other than that required to be furnished or arranged by Engineer or Contractor by the Construction Contract Documents.
- B. With respect to the portions or phases of the Project designed or specified by Engineer, Owner shall provide, obtain, or arrange for:
 - 1. all required reviews, approvals, consents, and permits from governmental authorities having jurisdiction, and
 - 2. such reviews, approvals, and consents from others as may be necessary for completion of each portion or phase of the Project.
- C. Owner may delegate to Contractor or others the responsibilities set forth in Paragraphs 2.03.A and B.

2.04 Owner's General Responsibilities

- A. Owner shall inform Engineer of the policies, procedures, and requirements of Owner that are applicable to Engineer's performance of services under this Agreement.
- B. Owner shall provide Engineer with Owner's budget for the Project, including type and source of funding to be used, and will promptly inform Engineer if the budget or funding sources change.
- C. Owner shall arrange for access to and make all provisions for Engineer to enter upon public and private property as required for Engineer to perform services under this Agreement.

- D. Owner shall provide necessary direction and make decisions, including review of Engineer's submittals, and carry out its other responsibilities in a timely manner so as not to delay Engineer's performance of its services.
- E. Owner shall be responsible for all requirements and instructions that it furnishes to Engineer pursuant to this Agreement, and for the accuracy and completeness of all programs, reports, data, and other information furnished by Owner to Engineer pursuant to this Agreement. Engineer may use and rely upon such requirements, programs, instructions, reports, data, and information in performing or furnishing services under this Agreement, subject to any express limitations or reservations applicable to the furnished items.
- F. Owner shall give prompt written notice to Engineer whenever Owner observes or otherwise becomes aware of:
 - 1. any development that affects the scope or time of performance of Engineer's services;
 - 2. the presence at the Site of any Constituent of Concern; or
 - 3. any relevant, material defect or nonconformance in: (a) Engineer's services, (b) the Work, (c) the performance of any Constructor, or (d) Owner's performance of its responsibilities under this Agreement and Engineer shall also give prompt written notice to Owner of the same.

G. Owner shall:

- Attend and participate in the pre-bid conference, bid opening, pre-construction conferences, construction progress and other job-related meetings, and Site visits to determine Substantial Completion and readiness of the completed Work for final payment.
- 2. Primarily communicate with Engineer's Subcontractors and Subconsultants through the Engineer.
 - a. Promptly inform Engineer of the substance of any communications between Owner and Engineer's Subcontractors or Subconsultants.
 - b. Refrain from directing the services of Engineer's Subcontractors or Subconsultants.
- 3. Authorize Engineer to provide Additional Services as set forth in Article 1 of Exhibit A of the Agreement, as required.

2.05 Payment

- A. Owner shall pay Engineer as set forth in Article 4.
- B. Engineer's compensation is summarized as follows:

Description of Service	Amou	nt Basis of Compensation
Exhibit A: Basic Services (1.01 ar Management and Engineering Design	1.02) - Project \$105,6	00 LS

1. Lump sum amounts incorporate Engineer's labor, overhead, profit, Engineer's Subcontractor and Subconsultants' charges, and Engineer's expenses.

ARTICLE 3—SCHEDULE FOR RENDERING SERVICES

3.01 Commencement

A. Engineer is authorized to begin rendering services as of the Effective Date.

3.02 Time for Completion

- A. Engineer shall complete its obligations within a reasonable time. Specific periods of time for rendering services, or specific dates by which services are to be completed, are provided in Exhibit B, and are hereby agreed to be reasonable.
- B. If, through no fault of Engineer, such periods of time or dates are changed, or the orderly and continuous progress of Engineer's services is impaired, or Engineer's services are delayed or suspended, then the time for completion of Engineer's services, and the rates and amounts of Engineer's compensation, will be adjusted equitably and as agreed upon by the Owner.
- C. If Owner authorizes changes in the scope, extent, or character of the Project or Engineer's services, then the time for completion of Engineer's services, and the rates and amounts of Engineer's compensation, will be adjusted equitably and as agreed upon by the Owner.
- D. If Engineer fails, for reasons within control of Engineer, to complete the performance required in this Agreement within the time set forth, as duly adjusted, then Owner shall be entitled, as its sole remedy, to the recovery of direct damages to the extent, if any, resulting from such failure by Engineer.

ARTICLE 4—INVOICES AND PAYMENTS FOR SERVICES

4.01 Invoices

A. Preparation and Submittal of Invoices: Engineer shall prepare invoices in accordance with its standard invoicing practices, the progress reporting of services completed, and approved additional services (if any) and the terms of Appendix 1. Engineer shall submit its invoices to Owner on a monthly basis. Invoices are due and payable within 30 days of receipt.

4.02 Payments

- A. Application to Interest and Principal: Payment will be credited first to any interest owed to Engineer and then to principal.
- B. Disputed Invoices: If Owner disputes an invoice, either as to amount or entitlement, then Owner shall promptly advise Engineer of the specific basis for doing so; may require Engineer to revise and resubmit invoice; or may withhold only that portion so disputed and must pay the undisputed portion, subject to the terms of Paragraph 4.01. After a disputed item has been resolved, Engineer shall include the agreed-upon amount on a new invoice.
- C. Failure to Pay: If Owner fails to make any undisputed payment due Engineer within 30 days after receipt of Engineer's invoice, then:

- 1. Engineer may, after giving 7 days' written notice to Owner, suspend services under this Agreement until Owner has paid in full amounts due. Owner waives any and all claims against Engineer for any such suspension.
- D. The Owner may, from time to time, request changes in the scope of services of the Engineer to be provided hereunder. Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the amount of Engineer's compensation, that are mutually agreed upon by the Owner and the Engineer, shall be incorporated in written amendments to this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5—OPINIONS OF COST

5.01 Opinions of Probable Construction Cost

A. Engineer's opinions of probable Construction Cost (if any) are to be made on the basis of Engineer's experience, qualifications, and general familiarity with the construction industry. However, because Engineer has no control over the cost of labor, materials, equipment, or services furnished by others, or over contractors' methods of determining prices, or over competitive bidding or market conditions, Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual Construction Cost will not vary from opinions of probable Construction Cost prepared by Engineer. If Owner requires greater assurance as to probable Construction Cost, then Owner agrees to obtain an independent cost estimate.

ARTICLE 6—GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

6.01 Standards of Performance

- A. Standard of Care: The standard of care for all professional engineering and related services performed or furnished by Engineer under this Agreement will be the care and skill ordinarily used by members of the subject profession practicing under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same locality. Engineer makes no warranties, express or implied, under this Agreement or otherwise, in connection with any services performed or furnished by Engineer.
- B. Technical Accuracy: Owner shall not be responsible for discovering deficiencies in the technical accuracy of Engineer's services. Engineer shall correct deficiencies in technical accuracy without additional compensation, unless such corrective action is directly attributable to deficiencies in Owner-furnished information. Engineer shall be responsible for Owner compensation for resulting penalties and loss of use due to deficiencies in Engineer's services.
- C. Engineer's Subcontractors and Subconsultants: Engineer may retain such Engineer's Subcontractors and Subconsultants as Engineer deems necessary to assist in the performance or furnishing of the services, subject to reasonable, timely, and substantive objections by Owner. Engineer shall notify Owner of Subcontractors and Subconsultants retained for Owner approval prior to furnishing the services.
- D. Reliance on Others: Subject to the standard of care set forth in Paragraph 6.01.A, Engineer may use or rely upon design elements and information ordinarily or customarily furnished by others, including, but not limited to, specialty contractors, manufacturers, suppliers, and the publishers of technical standards.
- E. Compliance with Laws and Regulations, and Policies and Procedures

- 1. Engineer and Owner shall comply with applicable Laws and Regulations.
- Engineer shall comply with the policies, procedures, and instructions of Owner that are
 applicable to Engineer's performance of services under this Agreement and that Owner
 provides to Engineer in writing, subject to the standard of care set forth in
 Paragraph 6.01.A, and to the extent compliance is not inconsistent with professional
 practice requirements.
- 3. This Agreement is based on Laws and Regulations and Owner-provided written policies and procedures as of the Effective Date. The following may be the basis for modifications to Owner's responsibilities or to Engineer's scope of services, times of performance, or compensation:
 - a. changes after the Effective Date to Laws and Regulations,
 - b. the receipt by Engineer after the Effective Date of Owner-provided written policies and procedures, and
 - c. changes after the Effective Date to Owner-provided written policies or procedures.
- F. General Conditions of Construction Contract: The general conditions for any Construction Contract Documents prepared hereunder are to be the current edition of EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract, prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, unless expressly indicated otherwise.
- G. Copies of Drawings and Specifications: If Engineer is required to prepare or furnish Drawings or Specifications under this Agreement, Engineer shall deliver to Owner the quantity and type as specified by the Owner.
- H. Engineer shall not be required to sign any document, no matter by whom requested, that would result in Engineer having to certify, guarantee, or warrant conditions whose existence Engineer cannot ascertain within the authorized scope of Engineer's services. Owner agrees not to make resolution of any dispute with Engineer or payment of any amount due to Engineer in any way contingent upon Engineer signing any such document.
- I. Engineer shall not at any time supervise, direct, control, or have authority over any Constructor's work, nor will Engineer have authority over or be responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction selected or used by any Constructor, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, for security or safety at the Site, nor for any failure of a Constructor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to that Constructor's furnishing and performing of its work. Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any Constructor.
- J. Engineer neither guarantees the performance of any Constructor nor assumes responsibility for any Constructor's failure to furnish and perform the Work in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents.
- K. Engineer shall not be responsible for any decision made regarding the Construction Contract Documents, or any application, interpretation, clarification, or modification of the Construction Contract Documents, other than those made by Engineer.
- 6.02 Ownership and Use of Documents
 - A. All Documents are instruments of service, and Engineer owns the Documents, including all associated copyrights and the right of reuse at the discretion of the Engineer. Engineer shall

continue to own the Documents and all associated rights whether or not the Project is completed.

- 1. Owner may make and retain copies of Documents for information and reference in connection with the use of the Documents on the Project.
- 2. Engineer grants Owner a limited license to use the Documents on the Project, extensions of the Project, and for related uses of the Owner, subject to receipt by Engineer of full payment due and owing for all services relating to preparation of the Documents, and subject to the following limitations:
 - a. Owner acknowledges that such Documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for use on the Project unless completed by Engineer, or for use or reuse by Owner or others on extensions of the Project, on any other project, or for any other use or purpose, without written verification or adaptation by Engineer;
 - any such use or reuse, or any modification of the Documents, without written verification, completion, or adaptation by Engineer, as appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Owner's sole risk and without liability or legal exposure to Engineer or to its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Subconsultants;
 - c. Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Subconsultants from all claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including attorneys' fees, arising out of or resulting from any use, reuse, or modification of the Documents without written verification, completion, or adaptation by Engineer;
 - d. such limited license to Owner shall not create any rights in third parties; and
 - e. Engineer shall grant Owner an unlimited license to use record (as-built) drawings in such capacity, format, and type as determined by the Owner.
- B. If Engineer at Owner's request verifies the suitability of the Documents, completes them, or adapts them for extensions of the Project or for any other purpose, then Owner shall compensate Engineer at rates or in an amount to be agreed upon by Owner and Engineer.
- C. Engineer shall inform Owner if Engineer is aware of any invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Documents that is subject to payment (whether by Owner or Contractor) of any license fee or royalty to others, as required by patent rights or copyrights. If Engineer's good-faith inclusion in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Documents of new, innovative, or non-standard technologies, for the benefit of Owner and the Project, results in third-party claims of infringement or violation of intellectual property rights, then Owner and Engineer shall share equally the costs of defending against, settling, or paying such claims.
- D. Engineer will obtain Owner's consent, which will not be unreasonably withheld, prior to releasing any publicity, including news and press releases, promotional publications, award and prize competition submittals, and other advertising regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. Nothing herein will limit the Engineer's right to include information in statements of qualifications and proposals to others accurately describing its participation and participation of employees in the Project.

6.03 Electronic Transmittals

A. To the fullest extent practical, Owner and Engineer agree to transmit, and accept, Project-related correspondence, Documents, text, data, drawings, information, and graphics, in electronic media, digital format, or other Owner required format, either directly, or through access to a secure Project website, in a manner acceptable to both parties.

6.04 Insurance

A. Engineer shall procure and maintain insurance as follows:

Coverage	Policy limits of not less than:
Workers' Compensation	
State	Statutory
Employer's Liability	
Each accident	\$1,000,000
Each employee	\$1,000,000
Policy limit	\$1,000,000
Commercial General Liability	
General Aggregate	\$2,000,000
Personal and Advertising Injury	\$1,000,000
Bodily Injury and Property Damage—Each Occurrence	\$1,000,000
Automobile Liability	
Combined Single Limit	
Combined Single Limit (Bodily Injury and Property Damage)	\$1,000,000
Excess or Umbrella Liability	
Each Occurrence	\$5,000,000
General Aggregate	\$5,000,000
Professional Liability	
Each Claim	\$2,000,000
Annual Aggregate	\$4,000,000

B. The Engineer shall provide certificates of insurance indicating the aforesaid coverage upon request of the Owner. The Owner shall be listed as additional insured.

6.05 Termination for Cause

- A. Either party may terminate the Agreement for cause upon 30 days' written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, through no fault of the terminating party.
- B. In the event of any termination under Paragraph 6.05, Engineer will be entitled to invoice Owner and to receive full payment for all services performed or furnished in accordance with this Agreement and all reimbursable expenses incurred through the effective date of termination.

6.06 Successors, Assigns, and Beneficiaries

A. Owner and Engineer are hereby bound and the successors, executors, administrators, and legal representatives of Owner and Engineer are hereby bound to the other party to this Agreement and to the successors, executors, administrators and legal representatives (and said assigns) of such other party, in respect of all covenants, agreements, and obligations of this Agreement.

6.07 Dispute Resolution

A. Owner and Engineer agree to negotiate all disputes between them in good faith for a period of 30 days from the date of notice. If negotiations are unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, then the dispute shall be mediated. If mediation is unsuccessful, then the parties may exercise their rights at law.

6.08 Controlling Law

A. This Agreement is to be governed by the Laws and Regulations of the State of Alabama.

6.09 Environmental Condition of Site

A. Owner represents to Engineer that, as of the Effective Date, to the best of Owner's knowledge, no Constituents of Concern, other than those disclosed in writing to Engineer, exist at or adjacent to the Site.

6.10 Indemnification and Mutual Waiver

- A. Indemnification by Engineer: To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Engineer shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner, and Owner's officers, directors, members, partners, agents, and employees, from losses, damages, and judgments (including reasonable consultants' and attorneys' fees and expenses) arising from third-party claims or actions relating to the Project, provided that any such claim, action, loss, damages, or judgment is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Engineer or Engineer's officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, Subconsultants, or Engineer's Subcontractors.
- B. Indemnification by Owner: To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Subconsultants, and Engineer's Subcontractors, from and against any and all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the Project, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Owner or Owner's officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, or others retained by or under contract to the Owner with respect to this Agreement or to the Project.

6.11 Records Retention

A. Engineer shall maintain on file in legible form, for a period of five years following completion or termination of its services, or such other period as required by Laws and Regulations, all Documents, records (including cost records), and design calculations related to Engineer's services or pertinent to Engineer's performance under this Agreement. Upon Owner's request, Engineer shall provide a copy of any such item to Owner at cost.

6.12 Miscellaneous Provisions

- A. Notices: Any notice required under this Agreement will be in writing, and delivered: in person (by commercial courier or otherwise); by registered or certified mail; or by e-mail to the recipient, with the words "Formal Notice" or similar in the e-mail's subject line. All such notices are effective upon the date of receipt.
- B. Survival: Subject to applicable Laws and Regulations, all express representations, waivers, indemnifications, and limitations of liability included in this Agreement will survive its completion or termination for any reason.
- C. Severability: Any provision or part of the Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any Laws or Regulations will be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions will continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Engineer.
- D. No Waiver: A party's non-enforcement of any provision will not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor will it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Agreement.
- E. Accrual of Claims: To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, all causes of action arising under this Agreement will be deemed to have accrued, and all statutory periods of limitation will commence, no later than the date of Substantial Completion; or, if Engineer's services do not include Construction Phase services, or the Project is not completed, then no later than the date of Owner's last payment to Engineer.

ARTICLE 7—DEFINITIONS

7.01 Defined Terms

- A. Wherever used in this Agreement (including the exhibits hereto) terms (including the singular and plural forms) printed with initial capital letters have the meanings indicated in the text above, in the exhibits, or in the following definitions:
 - Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of bids which clarify, correct, or change the bidding requirements or the proposed Construction Contract Documents.
 - 2. Additional Services—The services to be performed for or furnished to Owner by Engineer in accordance with Article 2 of Exhibit A of this Agreement.
 - Agreement—This written contract for professional services between Owner and Engineer, including all exhibits identified in Paragraph 8.01 and any duly executed amendments.
 - 4. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Construction Contract.
 - 5. Basic Services—The services to be performed for or furnished to Owner by Engineer in accordance with Article 1 of Exhibit A of this Agreement.
 - 6. Bidding/Proposal Documents—Documents related to the selection of the Contractor, including advertisements or invitations to bid; requests for proposals; instructions to

- bidders or proposers, including any attachments such as lists of available Site-related documents; bid forms; bids; proposal forms; proposals; bidding requirements; and qualifications documents.
- 7. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Construction Contract Price or the Construction Contract Times, or other revision to the Construction Contract, issued on or after the effective date of the Construction Contract.
- 8. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth in the Construction Contract, seeking an adjustment in Construction Contract Price or Construction Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Construction Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Construction Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Construction Contract.
- 9. Constituents of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), lead-based paint (as defined by the HUD/EPA standard), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed pursuant to Laws and Regulations regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or dangerous waste, substance, or material.
- 10. Construction Contract—The entire and integrated written contract between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work.
- 11. Construction Contract Documents—Those items designated as "Contract Documents" in the Construction Contract, and which together comprise the Construction Contract. See also definition of "Front-End Construction Contract Documents" below.
- 12. Construction Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents.
- 13. Construction Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor must: (a) achieve milestones, if any, in the Construction Contract; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the Work.
- 14. Construction Cost—The cost to Owner of the construction of those portions of the entire Project designed or specified by or for Engineer under this Agreement, including construction labor, services, materials, equipment, insurance, and bonding costs, and allowances for contingencies. Construction Cost does not include costs of services of Engineer or other design professionals and consultants; cost of land or rights-of-way, or compensation for damages to property; Owner's costs for legal, accounting, insurance counseling, or auditing services; interest or financing charges incurred in connection with the Project; or the cost of other services to be provided by others to Owner. Construction Cost is one of the items comprising Total Project Costs.
- 15. Constructor—Any person or entity (not including the Engineer, its employees, agents, representatives, or Subconsultants, or Engineer's Subcontractors), performing or supporting construction activities relating to the Project, including but not limited to Contractors, Subcontractors, Suppliers, Owner's work forces, utility companies, other

- contractors, construction managers, design-builders, testing firms, shippers, and truckers, and the employees, agents, and representatives of any or all of them.
- Contractor—The entity or individual with which Owner enters into a Construction Contract.
- 17. Documents—All documents expressly identified as deliverables in this Agreement, whether in printed or Electronic Document form, required by this Agreement to be provided or furnished by Engineer to Owner. Such specifically required deliverables may include, by way of example, Drawings, Specifications, data, reports, building information models, and civil integrated management models.
- 18. Drawings—That part of the Construction Contract Documents that graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Contractor.
- 19. Effective Date—The date indicated in this Agreement on which it becomes effective, but if no such date is indicated, the date on which this Agreement is signed and delivered by the last of the parties to sign and deliver.
- 20. Electronic Document—Any Project-related correspondence, attachments to correspondence, data, documents, drawings, information, or graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other Submittals, that are in an electronic or digital format.
- 21. Electronic Means—Electronic mail (e-mail), upload/download from a secure Project website, or other communications methods that allow: (a) the transmission or communication of Electronic Documents; (b) the documentation of transmissions, including sending and receipt; (c) printing of the transmitted Electronic Document by the recipient; (d) the storage and archiving of the Electronic Document by sender and recipient; and (e) the use by recipient of the Electronic Document for purposes permitted by this Agreement. Electronic Means does not include the use of text messaging, or of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or similar social media services for transmission of Electronic Documents.
- 22. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in this Agreement.
- 23. Engineer's Subcontractor—An individual, firm, vendor, or other entity having a contract with Engineer to furnish general services, equipment, or materials with respect to the Project as an independent contractor.
- 24. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but does not change the Construction Contract Price or the Construction Contract Times.
- 25. Front-End Construction Contract Documents—Those Construction Contract Documents whose primary purpose is to establish legal and contractual terms and conditions, typically including the Owner-Contractor agreement, bonds, general conditions, and supplementary conditions. The term excludes the Drawings and Specifications, and any Construction Contract Documents delivered or issued after the effective date of the Construction Contract.
- 26. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction.

- 27. Owner—The individual or entity named as such in this Agreement and for which Engineer's services are to be performed. Unless indicated otherwise, this is the same individual or entity that will enter into any Construction Contracts concerning the Project.
- 28. Project—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, commissioning, and start-up, and of which the services to be performed or furnished by Engineer under this Agreement are a part.
- 29. Record Drawings—Drawings depicting the completed Project, or a specific portion of the completed Project, prepared by Engineer and based on Contractor's record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, and written interpretations and clarifications, as delivered to Engineer and annotated by Contractor to show changes made during construction.
- 30. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned to assist Engineer at the Site during the Construction Phase. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative (RPR) includes any assistants or field staff of the RPR.
- 31. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.
- 32. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Construction Contract Documents.
- 33. Site—Lands or areas to be indicated in the Construction Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor.
- 34. Specifications—The part of the Construction Contract Documents that consists of written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the Work.
- 35. Subconsultant—An individual, design firm, consultant, or other entity having a contract with Engineer to furnish professional services with respect to the Project as an independent contractor.
- 36. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work.
- 37. Submittal—A written or graphic document, prepared by or for Contractor, which the Construction Contract Documents require Contractor to submit to Engineer, or that is indicated as a Submittal in the Schedule of Submittals accepted by Engineer. Submittals may include Shop Drawings and Samples; schedules; product data; Owner-delegated designs; sustainable design information; information on special procedures; testing plans; results of tests and evaluations, source quality-control testing and inspections,

and field or Site quality-control testing and inspections; warranties and certifications; Suppliers' instructions and reports; records of delivery of spare parts and tools; operations and maintenance data; Project photographic documentation; record documents; and other such documents required by the Construction Contract Documents. Submittals, whether or not approved or accepted by Engineer, are not Construction Contract Documents. Change Proposals, Change Orders, Claims, notices, Applications for Payment, and requests for interpretation or clarification are not Submittals.

- 38. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. The terms "substantially complete" and "substantially completed" as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof.
- 39. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor.
- 40. Total Project Costs—The total cost of planning, studying, designing, constructing, testing, commissioning, and start-up of the Project, including Construction Cost and all other Project labor, services, materials, equipment, insurance, and bonding costs, allowances for contingencies, and the total costs of services of Engineer or other design professionals and consultants, together with such other Project-related costs that Owner furnishes for inclusion, including but not limited to cost of land, rights-of-way, compensation for damages to properties and private utilities (including relocation if not part of Construction Cost), Owner's costs for legal, accounting, insurance counseling, and auditing services, interest and financing charges incurred in connection with the Project, and the cost of other services to be provided by others to Owner.
- 41. Underground Facilities—All active or not-in-service underground lines, pipelines, conduits, ducts, encasements, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or systems at the Site, including but not limited to those facilities or systems that produce, transmit, distribute, or convey telephone or other communications, cable television, fiber optic transmissions, power, electricity, light, heat, gases, oil, crude oil products, liquid petroleum products, water, steam, waste, wastewater, storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. An abandoned facility or system is not an Underground Facility.
- 42. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to be provided under the Construction Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Construction Contract Documents.
- 43. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the effective date of the Construction Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work.

B. Terminology

1. The word "day" means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight.

ARTICLE 8—EXHIBITS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS

8.01 Exhibits to Agreement

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference and included as part of this Agreement:

- A. Exhibit A, Engineer's Services.
- B. Exhibit B-Not used.
- C. Exhibit C-Not used.
- D. Exhibit D-Not used.
- E. Exhibit E-Not used.
- F. Exhibit F-Not used.
- G. Exhibit G-Not used.
- H. Exhibit H-Not used.
- I. Exhibit I-Not used.
- J. Exhibit J-Not used.
- K. Appendix 1-Not used.

8.02 Total Agreement

A. This Agreement (which includes the exhibits listed above) constitutes the entire contractual agreement between Owner and Engineer and supersedes all prior written or oral understandings. This Agreement may only be amended, supplemented, modified, or canceled by a written instrument duly executed by both parties.

This Agreement's Effective Date is	·
Owner: City of Ozark, Alabama	Engineer: Poly, Inc.
By: Mark Blankenship Mayor	By: Bruce A. Bradley, PE President
Attest: Chris Peters CFO/City Clerk	Attest: Kenneth L. Sanders, PE Secretary/Treasurer
Address: City of Ozark PO Box 1987 Ozark, AL 36361	Address: Poly, Inc. PO Box 837 Dothan, AL 36302

EXHIBITS TO AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND ENGINEER FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	EXHIBIT	A-E	NG	NEER'	S SER	VICES
--	---------	-----	----	-------	-------	-------

EXHIBIT B—NOT USED

EXHIBIT C—NOT USED

EXHIBIT D—NOT USED

EXHIBIT E—NOT USED

EXHIBIT F—NOT USED

EXHIBIT F—NOT USED

EXHIBIT G-NOT USED

EXHIBIT H—NOT USED

EXHIBIT I—NOT USED

EXHIBIT J—NOT USED

APPENDIX 1—NOT USED

Exhibit A Table of Contents

Article 1-	— BASIC SERVICES	. 2
1.01	Management of Engineering Services	. 2
	Engineering Design Phase	
	Bidding/Proposal Phase	
	Construction Administration Phase	
2.04		• ¬

Article 1 of the Agreement, Services of Engineer, is supplemented to include the following provisions:

Baseline Information: Owner has furnished the following Project information to Engineer as of the Effective Date. Engineer's scope of services has been developed based on this information. As the Project moves forward, some of the information may change or be refined, and additional information will become known, resulting in the possible need to change, refine, or supplement the scope of services.

Project Description: The Engineer has been requested by the Owner to provide design services
for the Project. The Project includes a new sports complex located north of Andrews Ave. along
US-231 and Roy Parker Rd. on approximately 77 acres that were recently purchased by the Owner.
The Owner completed a completed a conceptual site layout (assuming a flat site) under separate
contract that includes the following items: 5 baseball fields, 2 softball fields, 4 tee ball fields, 3
soccer fields, 4 tennis courts, 7 pickleball courts, miracle field and playground, dog park, pavilions,
concession stands, 11 outparcels, road network, and parking.

ARTICLE 1—BASIC SERVICES

- 1.01 Management of Engineering Services
 - A. All phases of Engineer's services will include management of Engineer's Project-specific responsibilities, at no additional cost to the Owner.
- 1.02 Engineering Design Phase
 - A. Engineer shall:
 - Consult with Owner to define and clarify Owner's requirements for the Project, assess
 initially available Project information and data, recommend the solution(s) which in
 Engineer's judgment meet Owner's requirements for the Project and identify, consult
 with, and analyze requirements of authorities having jurisdiction to permit or approve
 construction or operation of the portions of the Project, prepare and submit to Owner
 a Preliminary Design Phase Report consisting of: final design criteria, preliminary
 drawings, a preliminary list of expected specifications, opinion of probable Construction
 Cost, and written descriptions of the Project.
 - 2. This phase of design will be schematic in nature to develop a preliminary layout and grading plan that meets the Owner's requirements while working within the constraints given on the site. The tasks covered in this phase are summarized below:

a. Topographic Survey

- 1) Topographic survey in accordance with the Standards of Practice for surveying in the state of Alabama.
- Establish horizontal and vertical control points at the site. Horizontal control will be based on NAD83 2011 adjustment, Alabama State Plane Coordinate System, East Zone. Vertical control will be based on NAVD88 datum.
- Locate all improvements and utilities, as evidenced by aboveground features
 or if designated and marked by the utility owners, their representative, or a
 contracted service.
- 4) Contact Alabama 811 and provide all contact information for utility providers in the area; however, we cannot guarantee the utility owners will mark their lines.
- 5) Obtain spot elevations on natural ground and existing improvements suitable for interpolating 1-ft contours.
- 6) Establish a minimum of 4 site benchmarks.
- 7) Topographic coverage will be limited to the parcels provided by the Owner and the adjacent roadways including US-231 and Roy Parker Rd.

b. Boundary Survey

- 1) Establish the location of all boundary corners and reset any missing corners.
- 2) Property lines will be noted with both measured and record bearing and distances.
- 3) Provide legal description of the property.

c. Wetland Delineation

- 1) Conduct a wetland delineation in accordance with the USACE Wetlands Delineation Manual including the Regional Supplement to the USACE Wetlands Delineation Manual: Atlantic and Gulf Coastal Plain Region (Version 2.0).
- 2) Wetland boundaries will be marked in the field and located with a GPS unit with sub-meter accuracy.
- Prepare wetland delineation report that includes information on wetlands and surface waters found on the property and federal jurisdiction under the Clean Waters Act.

d. Schematic Design

- 1) Evaluate multiple options to determine the best course of action.
- 2) Preliminary site layout.
- 3) Preliminary mass grading plan.
- 4) Preliminary stormwater detention plan.

- 5) Preliminary utility plan.
- 3. The following services are excluded from this Agreement:
 - a. Phase 2 final design.
 - b. Geotechnical investigation and report.
 - c. Construction NPDES permitting.
 - d. Wetland delineation exclusions.
 - 1) USACE approved jurisdictional determination.
 - 2) Site reviews with any local, state, or federal regulatory agency.
 - 3) Permitting.
- 1.03 Bidding/Proposal Phase
 - A. Bidding/proposal phase services are not included in this Agreement.
- 1.04 Construction Administration Phase
 - A. Construction phase services are not included in this Agreement.